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A R T A N D A R C H I T E C T U R E IN M A L T A 
IN T H E EARLY N I N E T E E N T H C E N T U R Y 

The latter half of the eighteenth century in the European mainland was 
a period of great radical changes, of an intense intellectual revolution, and of a 
remarkable reversal of long-accepted ideas and concepts. There was no subject, 
philosophical, artistic, scientific or religious, which was not discussed, ques­
tioned and subjected to searching analysis and rigorous rationalization. Human 
inquiry into the principles of science, of natural phenomena, of Morality, of 
duties Of rulers and of human rights, of education, of the influences of the 
past — these and other searching questions signalled the first stirrings of the 
Age of the Enlightenment, of the philosophies of Kant, Diderot and Rousseau, 
of d'Alembert's and Diderot's Encyclopedic and, ultimately, of the French 
Revolution. This unprecedented intellectual activity erupted also in the Sciences: 
especially the momentous discovery of electricity, and the equally gigantic 
approach towards a rational understanding of chemistry. Literature was like­
wise revolutionized by the genius and penetrating intelligence of Goethe, Jo-
hann Schiller's masterpieces on the aesthetic education of Man, Gray's poetic 
gentleness, and purity of language, and Vittorio Alfieri's deep hatred of political 
tyranny (1). 

The question now naturally arises. What was the reaction of the exponents 
of the visual arts in the face of this intellectual upheaval? Risking a gross 
over-simplification to this complex question, one may broadly answer that the 
sense and sensiblity of the state of the Arts in Europe of the time were simil­
arly analysed and questioned. In the fields of Architecture, Painting and Sculp­
ture, an accusing finger was pointed at the excesses of the Late Baroque and, 
especially, of the Rococo. The main criticism of the period, which the Age of 
Enlightenment engendered and encouraged, was that the Rococo had developed 
into the style of one class only, that of the rich, favoured a taste for luxury, 
encouraged triviality, and became therefore a symbol of the concept of easy 
living (2). 

Neo-classicism, for this is how the new artistic movement came later to 
be called, can therefore be said to have been a reaction against frivolity, and 
as a universal harking, by the philosophers, writers, artists and scientists, after 
sound and solid artistic principles based on primitive laws, and nature. 

1. Hugh Honour, Neo-Cltustcum, in The Age of Neo-Classicism, XlVth Exhibition of 
the Council of Europe. Arts Council of Great Britain, London. 1972, p.xxi. 

2, Hugh Honour, Neo-Clauicitm. Penguin Books, London, 1968, p. 18. 
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The circumstances of the rejection of the Rococo may have differed from 
country t o country, but the end result was the same everywhere — the 
emergence of a style, perhaps for the first time in the history of art , which was 
international in character. Internationalism in painting, sculpture and archi­
tecture, born with the neo-classicism of the 18th century, was to survive, al­
though in new forms and styles, all through the 19th, and further on into our 
own century. (3) 

The return to Antiquity, which, after all. is what the rejection of the 
Baroque and Rococo really meant, introduced a new element in art — the 
imitation, not the copying, of nature. Antonio Canova, one of the greatest 
sculptors of all time, when faced with the Elgin marbles from the frieze of 
the Parthenon in 1815, exclaimed: "This is I he beauty of form, inseparable 
from the beauty of nature." This same age, and this is of exceptional import­
ance to the artistic revolution of the time, witnessed a radical change in the 
att i tude to artistic education with the appearance, or rather, the assertion of 
the Academies. Apprenticeship in the 'botteghe', and artists ' followers, gave 
way to formal training, which included the Greek and Latin classics, and the 
basic reliance of artistic forms on simple geometric solids, as the cube, the 
sphere, the cone, the pyramid and the cylinder, the technique of casts from 
antique statues, and modelling from the nude in Academy classrooms. The 
Acadimie de France and the Accademia di San Luca, both in Rome, were the 
two European institutions mainly responsible for the greatest artistic achieve­
ments of the age. (4) 

To these two Academies, highly gifted young men flocked to Rome from 
all over Europe. In Rome they studied the antique monuments, which they 
surveyed and measured, drew, sketched, engraved, or lithographed. Piranesi 
was the greatest of them all, and his volumes of engravings such as Antichita' 
Romane, Vedute di Roma, etc., fired the enthusiasm of students and artists. 
Parallel with this, and of remarkable significance to the proper understanding 
of the new movement, was the 're-discovery' of the antiquities of Greece: for 
the first time, Greek architecutral styles moved alongside with the Roman. The 
temples on the Acropolis were studied and surveyed in depth, and Greek art, 
always subservient to the Roman ever since Vitruvius wrote his Ten Boohs 
of Architecture in the first century BC, became now equal if not superior to 
that of Rome. (5) The controversy between Greeks and Romans became a heated 
argument amongst art scholars. The choice in England was definitely for 
Greece, and the real reason is not hard to seek: the Baroque and the Rococo 

3. Hugh Honour. Neo-Clatiiciim, in The Age of Neo-Clasiicixm. XlVth Exhibition of 
the Council of Europe, pu t i i . 

4. Wend von Kalnein, Architecture m the Age of Xeo-Ctassicism. inXIVtk Exhibition 
of the Council of Europe, p.liv. 

5. ibid., p.liti. 
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there never had real roots, and therefore their rejection was effortless. 
It is, to say the least, ironical that in Italy, in whose Academies the 

movement was bom, neo-classical architecture found feeble following: the little 
there is, is mainly due to French influence, and is of a much later period 
than in other European countries: the Foro Bonaparte in Milan (1806), Piazza 
del Popolo in Rome (1813-31). and the Teatro San Carlo in Naples (1810-12), 
being outstanding examples. (6) 

In England, neo-classicism followed the belief that architecture had been 
at its best in its simplest and most primitive forms. This concept gave birth 
to the Doric Revival, pioneered by James Stuart (1713-88), nicknamed The 
Athenian, whose Greek temple at Hagley in Worcestershire (1758), Triumphal 
Arch, Tower of the Winds and the Temple of Lysicrates (all betwen 1764 and 
1770). are his best works. Thus, in France, in England, in Scotland, in Germany, 
to a limited extent in Italy, and even in the newly constituted United States 
of America, the artistic morphology of Greece and Rome, but especially of 
Greece, dominated the period. Motivation naturally differed from country to 
country. In France, Napoleon's painters and architects preferred the decorative 
grandeur of Roman antiquity as a fitting backdrop to the Empire, and as a 
tribute to the Emperor's personality. Schinkel in Germany, perhaps the greatest 
exponent of neo-classical architecture in Europe, captured the real spirit of 
the new art, basing his style on elementary geometric forms and shunning 
unnecessary ornamentation. The neo-Classical Doric Revival movement in Bri­
tain, which later found a ready echo in Malta, represented a style which was 
at once solid, severe, and above all virile, no doubt inspired by the yearning 
after glory of the great empire-builders. 

Whilst Europe was generally feeling the advent of neo-classicism from 
about the 1750s, Malta was still basking in the glory of the Baroque. The 
Auberge de Castille, probably the finest building in Malta, was, at about 
the same period, being re-constructed and re-modelled by Domenico Cachia in 
1744; Francesco Zerafa in 1748, and after him Giuseppe Bonici or Bonnici in 
1760, were working on the Castellania. The common denominator of these 
two buildings is the concentration of a mass of ornamentation at their centres. 
At the Castille, the rich central focus is obtained by a magnificent doorway 
linked vertically to an elaborate central window, capped in turn by Pinto's 
ostentatious coat-of-arms, and a crowning centre-piece with the Langue's 
heraldic paraphrenalia. At the Castellania, the focus of attention is again the 
centre, made up of a triple concave doorway, a rich main window and balcony, 
and a segmental cornice which gently contains the upward sweep of the 
centre-piece. 

Towards the last quarter of the eighteenth century, the wind of change 
6. ibid., p.lviii. 
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from the Roman Academies and the European neo-CIassicat School started 
reaching our shores. Giuseppe Bonnici, probably the last exponent of the 
monumental Baroque, was caught in the cross-current of the European move­
ment and in 1774 commenced the first true product of Academism in Malta, his 
Customs House at the Valletta Marina. Gone is the rich ornamentation of the ear­
lier Valletta buildings, and Bonnici here relies for architectural effect on a 
remarkable arrangement of shallow projecting and re-entrant pilasters alter­
nated with bays on two floors, with the south doorway and windows, devoid 
of all sculpture, and almost timidly concealed inside arched semi-circular re­
cesses. At the Bibliotheca, constructed on the design of Stefano l t ta r (7) in 
1786, and the last important building of the Knights, the architecture is again 
predominantly academic, but more elegant than Bonnici's, for obvious reasons. 
Decoration is kept to a minimum and restricted to unobtrusive parts of the 
building; the building is symmetical, orderly and controlled; the desired effect 
is obtained by the judicious use of coupled columns and an open gallery 
at street level, and coupled pilasters in the overlying floor. The motifs of the 
ceiling of the gallery, as well as the stucco-like decoration in the entrance 
hall and staircase, are far removed from the Baroque. 

Another remarkable feature at both the Customs and the Bibliotheca is 
the complete omission, perhaps for the first time in Valletta's monumental 
architecture, of the massive corner pilasters, a courageous innovation indeed 
by Bonnici and Ittar. 

Between the years 1798 and 1800, the years of the French occupation, 
new building in Malta naturally came t o a standstill. To make matters worse, 
one of the very first acts of Napoleon on June 13th 1798. a couple of days 

7. Olivier Michel, in Disegni del XIX e XX secolo, Caialogo, Gallersa Carlo Virgilia, 
Roma. 1981. p.12; 'The Guidon de Hittar, Counts of Balneo, natives of Toscano, 
established themselves in Poland at the beginning of the 16th century because ol 
economical and financial difficulties. Stefano was bom in Owrucks. in Poland, in 
1724, but went to Italy towards the middle of the 18th century where he was much 
influenced by the late followers of Borromini. He travelled throughout Spain, before 
settling in Catania in 1765. where he married Rosalia Battaglia, daughter of the 
renowned architect Francesco, with whom Ittar had collaborated for a long number 
of years. Called to Malta in 1784 to construct the Public Library, he died here in 1790. 
Stefano had three sons, all artists: a designer, and two architects. Enrico, born in 
Catania in 1773, went to study in Rome, where he frequented the French Academy. 
He later proceeded to Poland in 1790. and became one of the foremost exponents of 
the neo-classic there. Benedetto and Sebastiano, twi brothers, were born in 1778. also 
in Catania. Benedetto studied at the Accademia dt San Luca between 1795 and ,1797. 
and was awarded a first and a second prise in two consecutive sessions. Sebastiano 
became a painter of considerable distinction; he died in Catania in 1847'. 
For the Ittars, see also, Quentin J. Hughes. The Building of Malta. London, 1956. 
pp.215-216; NicolA Pisani, Barocco in Sicilia. Sdracusa, 1958. p.21 and foot-note: 
Edward Sammut. infra., pp. 
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after his arrival, provided for 'the defacement of all heraldic coat-of-arms 
within twenty-four hours.' (8) This was, obviously, physically impossible when 
one thinks that for two hundred and seventy years, the Knights of St John 
had carved or painted their heraldry in innumerable palaces, churches, fortifi­
cations and private dwellings of their property, both on the inside of buildings 
as well as on the exterior wails; and, in fact, this operation ot destruction 
was still going on certainly as late as the end of September of 1798. Antonio 
Cachia, Capo Maestro of the Order, son of the great Domenico, and Perifo 
Agrimensore and Calcolatore since 1761, (9) and now described in the Minutes 
of the Deliberations of the French Republican Government as 'archiiecfe des 
biens nationaux, had the unpleasant but lucrative task of supervising the 
obliteration of the arms of his masters and employers of yesterday (10). But 
matters appear to have slightly improved, because on July 1st 1798 another 
decree directed 'that this work shall be carried out in those places and public 
monuments in such a way that the sculptured surrounds, and the paintings, 
etc., shall not be damaged, and great care should be taken to combine with 
great prudence the conservation of precious works of art in conformity with 
the carrying out of the present order'. (11). But it was already too late, and 
the damage had been done. Citoyen Architect Antonio Cachia was later em­
ployed by the French on work more ethical to his profession, and on August 
22nd of the same year was entrusted with the drawing up of a report on the 

8. A similar slep was taken by the British by Proclamation No. VI of 1814, issued by 
Governor Sir Thomas Maitland. This, however, differed considerably from that of 
Napoleon in that the Arms of the Order (the few that remained), were to be removed, 
and not defaced: ' His Excellency therefore directs that all the Armorial Bear­
ings, and other Emblems of the Sovereignty of every kind, wherever they may be 
found, be removed; but with that degree of observance and decency due to an Order 
of great antiquity and much well-deaerved celebrity, and that in their places His 
Majesty's Arms be substituted, as soon, as they can he prepared'. (Garreffn del Go-
verno di Malta. No. 16 of 9 February. 1814, p.61). 
On June 24th, 1815, Maitland wrote to the Commandant, Royal Engineers. Malta, 
requesting him to proceed with the installation of the British Coat-of-Arms at Porta 
Keale and Porta Marina, "now, that those on the Main Guard and The Palace have 
already been, changed". IP]ublic (R)ecord IO]fftce. London. WO 44/69, 
Some of the best coaU-of-arms of the < irdcr were, in fact, carefully taken down and 
set aside. They were later 'collected by His Excellency Sir Arthur Fremantle, and 
for their better preservation were set up in the walls of this Palace in 1897', as may 
be seen from a marble slab in one of the corridors of Neptune's Courtyard, Palace 
Of The President, Valletta. 

9. [NJational (Ljibrary of [M]alta. Arch. 1190, f.157. 
10. N.L.M., IJbrary .IJJ.6524». Rlgistre des ordontuuices arrelies pour its payement a 

/aire par ton Trisorier.... ff. 26, 28, 34; and Mst. 6523b and 6523c, Rtgistres det 
Dilibirations de la Commission du Gouvernment, various entries. 

11. N.L.M.. Library lis 6523, Rlgistre des Deliberations de la Commission dt Gouvern-
etnent des Isles de Malte et da Goto. G132. 
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